PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This suit was brought by Tona-Rama, Inc., operator of a recreational facility in Daytona Beach, Florida, against McMillan and Wright, Inc., the owner of a competitive recreational facility, Harry Doan, sole owner of stock in McMillan and Wright, Inc., and the City of Daytona Beach. The Complaint alleged that the City had unlawfully issued permit to McMillan and Wright for construction of an observation tower on land owned by the State of Florida, used as a public highway and to which the public had acquired exclusive prescriptive rights for recreational purposes, all of which was adverse to interest of Tona-Rama, Inc. Later the State of Florida intervened as party plaintiff.

Mandatory injunction was entered requiring McMillan and Wright to remove observation tower which had been constructed at a cost in excess of \$125,000.00, and occupied approximately 225 to 230 feet of the 15,300 feet to which McMillan and Wright had record title.

The District Court of Appeal affirmed.

In this brief we will refer to Tona-Rama, Inc., as plaintiff or plaintiff-competitor, and to the State as State or plaintiff State and will refer to the City of Daytona Beach as defendant City or City and will refer to defendants

McMillan and Wright as McMillan and Wright or as owner.

Reference to the record will be as follows:

1. Citations to the record will be (R. ____)

2. Stipulated facts may be also cited as (Stip. ____)

3. Exhibits will be referred to by number or letter

and appropriately identified.

HISTORY OF THE CASE

Tona-Rama, Inc., plaintiff below and respondent herein, commenced this action against McMillan and Wright and its principal officer for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief to prevent the erection by McMillan and Wright, petitioner herein, of a public observation tower at Daytona Beach, Florida. Plaintiff, respondent herein, operates a public observation tower at Daytona Beach, Florida, and standing to sue was claimed on the basis that competition by McMillan and Wright's observation tower would injure plaintiff's business. (R. 3) McMillan and Wright had theretofore applied for and been granted permits by the City of Daytona Beach to erect an observation tower on lands owned by McMillan and Wright. When an administrative appeal of the granting of permits was rejected by the administrative appellate officer on the grounds that plaintiff did not have standing to bring an appeal, this action was instituted. (R. 1-47)

After commencement of the action, the trial court permitted the State Attorney for the Seventh Circuit to intervene as a plaintiff on behalf of the State of Florida. Claim was made on behalf of the State that the owners of the beachfront land in question had no right to erect the observation tower. (R. 70)

Motion for preliminary injunction to halt construction of the observation tower came on for evidentiary hearing before the trial judge, following which an order denying preliminary injunction was entered on the ground that clear factual evidence of the plaintiff's claimed rights had not been presented. (R. 73) Later, the evidence adduced at the preliminary injunction hearing, together with certain affidavits, became the basis for summary judgment motions by plaintiff and the intervenors. Cross-motions were filed by the property owners. The trial judge entered summary judgment on behalf of plaintiff and intervenors, adjudging that the property owner must dismantle the observation tower, and must never erect any structure on its beach property thereafter. (R. 574)

Appeal was taken from the summary judgment, and the opinion affirming that judgment (after opinion on rehearing petition) is here on certiorari, certified as a case presenting a question of great public interest.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

McMillan and Wright, Inc., a corporation, is record title owner of certain waterfront property in Daytona Beach, Florida, and for more than sixty five years has operated on said property an ocean pier extending 1,050 feet over the Atlantic Ocean (R. 392), as a recreation center and tourist attraction, offering and providing such attractions as fishing space, helicopter flights, dances and skylift. (R. 395, 399)

The tract or parcel of land to which McMillan and Wright has record title and upon which the pier begins extends 102 feet north and south along the ocean front and approximately 150 feet landward of the mean high water mark. (R. 226, 400)

This area of approximately 15,300 square feet is an area of dry sand and is covered by water only on rare occasions during extremely high tide and during hurricanes. (Stip. R. 226)

It is on this area that the owner secured permit for and has constructed the observation tower that precipitated this litigation. (R. 227)

The circular foundation of the tower is 17 feet in diameter and the diameter of the tower is 4 feet (R. 438) and thus occupies an area of approximately 225-230 square

feet of the 15,300 square feet of land to which McMillan and Wright holds record title. The observation tower is an integral part of the pier and can only be entered from the pier. (R. 408)

Oceanward and easterly of the dry sand area is the foreshore, that is, the area between the high and low water marks and is designated herein as the hard or wet sand area. (R. 226-227)

On October 23, 1969, the City of Daytona Beach issued building permit to owner, McMillan and Wright, Inc., for construction of an observation tower. (R. 220)

This permit was issued after public hearings and after the City Attorney had consulted and exchanged correspondence with Honorable James W. Apthorp, Executive Director of the Board of Trustees, Internal Improvement Fund of the State of Florida, and Honorable Earl Faircloth, Attorney General of the State of Florida, both of which officials informed the City Attorney in writing that the Trustees had no authority in the matter since the proposed tower was landward of the mean high water mark and that the City of Daytona Beach had jurisdiction to regulate and license the observation tower as an addition to the existing pier. (R. 111, 112-113, 220)

Tona-Rama, Inc., a corporation, operated an observation tower near the site of the pier of McMillan and Wright, which corporation had protested issuance of the permit to McMillan and Wright filed complaint generally alleging that the construction of the tower by McMillan and Wright would adversely affect the interests of Tona-Rama, Inc. (R. 3); that the site of the tower was a public highway (R. 9) and that by continuous use of the property for more than twenty years the public had acquired an exclusive prescriptive right to the use of the land of McMillan and Wright. (R. 10)

At the time of service of process herein on McMillan and Wright, work in connection with the erection of the tower had progressed to completion of test borings and other arrangements. (Stip. R. 225)

Thereafter, on or about January 14, 1970, Honorable Stephen L. Boyles, State Attorney, Seventh Judicial Circuit, without authority of the Trustees of the Internal Improvement Fund, or the Governor of Florida, (Stip. R. 221) filed motion in behalf of the State of Florida to intervene in said suit, alleging that: (1) the proposed tower was being constructed on land lying easterly or oceanward of the mean high water mark (R. 72, 101-102), (2) the State of Florida and its people had acquired exclusive prescriptive rights to the lands of McMillan and Wright (R. 71, 102) and (3) the land on which the tower was being constructed was a public highway. (R. 71, 102)

Thereafter, plaintiff competitor, Tona-Rama, Inc., filed Amended Complaint (R. 49-65) containing generally the same allegations contained in the original Complaint of unlawful competition (R. 50, 58); that the site of the tower was a public highway (R. 54-55) and the prescriptive rights of the public. (R. 55)

The case came on for hearing before Honorable Horace

D. Reigle, Circuit Judge, for temporary injunction, which

after full hearing (R. 233-443) was denied, the Court finding

that:

- There was no evidence that the tower had been constructed on land easterly and oceanward of the mean high water mark,
- 2. The lands designated by statute to be a public highway were lands between the high and low water marks and there was no evidence that the tower was constructed thereon, and
- 3. The evidence did not justify issuance of temporary mandatory injunction to remove the tower, now substantially completed, on petition of the State, which would cause great damage to the owner for which the state would not be liable by bond or otherwise. (R. 101-104)

Thereafter the tower was completed in accordance with the owner's contracts. (R. 408-410)

By order of this Court, Honorable Percy B. Revels, retired Circuit Judge, was designated to conduct further proceedings herein. (R. 123)

Thereafter, the parties moved for summary judgment and on hearing thereon (R. 494-545), testimony taken on application for temporary injunction (R. 233-443), stipulated facts (R. 219-230) and affidavits (R. 447-489) were submitted and the Court thereafter entered summary judgment in favor of plaintiff competitor and plaintiff State, directing the owner, McMillan and Wright, to remove the observation tower erected by it within ninety (90) days. (R. 574)

The evidence upon which the summary judgment was entered is summarized as follows:

Charles E. Jackson, City Manager of Daytona Beach,
 called by the state as an adverse witness:

Mr. Jackson testified about the location of the pier, and the commencement of work on the observation tower immediately south of the pier; (R. 249) that the hard sand area of Daytona Beach is a public road; (R. 251) and automobile traffic is permitted thereon. (R. 260) The city is involved with the entire beach area around and about the pier in the following ways: (a) the public service department keeps the beach clean by picking up litter between the water's edge and the seawalls, (b) the police department maintains order among those who are using the beach area

for recreational purposes, (c) the city issues beach concession licenses, and (d) the public service department sends motor graders to the Main Street beach approach to keep it free of excess sand accumulations and to maintain the lifeguard tower road. (R. 257-258)

The observation tower does not hinder operation of the lifeguard tower. (R. 280) Vehicular traffic on the beach is supposed to stay on the hard sand area (R. 258) and "dune buggies" or similar vehicles are not supposed to use the soft sand area as a road. (R. 268-269) The police power exercised by the City is to regulate traffic on the roadway and maintain order. (R. 262) The grading done by the City is necessary to road maintenance; the City does not grade the soft sand area. (R. 271-272) The City charges property owners for the refuse collection done by the public service department (R. 273); the pier facility is charged for refuse collection about the premises.

The area in which the observation tower foundation stands was not used for traffic before construction. (R. 280)

2. Mr. William K. Kerris, long time Daytona Beach resident, called by the State:

Mr. Kerris testified that he had lived in the Daytona Beach area since 1921. He has used the beaches at Daytona regularly, and large numbers of other people would

regularly use the beach for recreational purposes. (R. 291-297) The area under the pier was used for recreational purposes during the same period. (R. 297) When asked by what authority he used the beach, Mr. Kerris said, "My father told me to go down to the beach and I went. And the whole beach as far as I am concerned was there and it was there for our use." (R. 297) Mr. Kerris has driven on the beach and has observed others doing so over a long period of time. (R. 302-305) Mr. Kerris said he had never been thrown off the beach, but that he had never interfered with anyone or done anything in a way which might cause him to be unwanted. (R. 309-310) The area in which the tower is constructed was not open to vehicular traffic under normal circumstances, and even after construction commenced on the tower Mr. Kerris continued to use and enjoy the beach. (R. 314-315)

3. Mr. Robert P. Miller, long time Daytona Beach resident, called by the State:

Mr. Miller has been a resident of the Daytona

Beach area for 38 years, and is familiar with the beach area
and the public's use of it since 1945. (R. 316-320) During
that time he observed others using the beach for recreational
purposes. (R. 320, 324) When asked by what authority he
used the beaches, Mr. Miller replied, "I don't think anyone
ever told me that I could or couldn't. Everybody did so I

did." (R. 321) The erection of the tower had not interfered with his use of the beaches. (R. 326) In the course of using the beach Mr. Miller never did anything which would give rise to a request to leave the beach. (R. 327)

4. Mr. Karl H. Lutz, long time Daytona Beach resident, called by the State:

Mr. Lutz resided in Daytona Beach for about 25 years; for 18 of those years he was a traffic lieutenant for the City. (R. 332) The police regulated traffic and parking upon the beach area east of the seawall in the subject area. (R. 335) Mr. Lutz testified that people used the beaches during the 18 years that he was a traffic lieutenant. (R. 336) The area of soft sand adjacent to the pier was not used customarily for vehicular traffic. (R. 337)

5. Mr. William M. Thames, long time Daytona Beach resident, called by the State:

Mr. Thames testified that he had lived in Ormond Beach for the prior $6\frac{1}{2}$ years; that he had lived in the Daytona Beach area intermittently for a number of years. (R. 240-241) He could not testify about beach area use for 20 years next preceding the action, however. He said that, to his observation, people had used the beach for recreation purposes throughout that time. (R. 243-248) During this time, Mr. Thames used the beaches as a citizen, and because he considered

them public property. (R. 248) Mr. Thames did not testify whether he considered the soft sand area as public property, as distinguished from the sovereignty lands which lie eastwart of the mean high water mark.

6. Mr. Russell Calvin Smith, Director of Public Service, City of Daytona Beach, called allegedly as an adverse witness by the State:

Mr. Smith testified that he had been in the Daytona Beach area for 17 years, (R. 353) and that he had been Director of Public Service of the City of Daytona Beach for a short period of time. He testified that he had observed people using the Atlantic Ocean for swimming and the hard and soft sand areas for sunbathing. (R. 356) He said that the City undertook to pick up trash on the entire beach area (R. 355) but that some public labor and some privately contracted labor was used for such purposes and the City does its best "to stay off of private property for litter control." (R. 359) The City does some grading on the beach area (R. 357), but grading is normally done on the public highway areas.(R. 362) The area in question has not been graded, to the best of Mr. Smith's knowledge. (R. 363)

The City maintains trash barrels on the beach at 250 foot intervals. (R. 360) These are placed on the soft sand area, so that high tides do not take them away. (R. 355)

Mr. Smith testified that he did not know whether any trash barrel was located on the property owned by McMillan and Wright. (R. 360)

7. Mr. Fred I. Holmes, Plans Examiner and Deputy Building official of Daytona Beach, called by the State:

Mr. Holmes testified that a permit was issued by the City of Daytona Beach for the construction of the observation tower in question. (R. 369)

8. Mr. Stephen L. Boyles, State's Attorney for the Seventh Judicial Circuit of Florida, called as an adverse witness by the defendants:

Mr. Boyles testified that as attorney for the State he had no knowledge or evidence that the observation tower was being constructed east or oceanward of the mean high water mark of the Atlantic Ocean. (R. 379, 386)

9. Mr. Harry Sterner Doan, stockholder of McMillan and Wright, called by the defendants:

Mr. Doan is the sole stockholder of the company which owns the ocean pier at Daytona Beach. (R. 393-394)
The pier was built in 1904 (Stip., R. 221); it extends from the present bulkhead 1,050 feet eastward into the Atlantic Ocean; is constructed on wooden piling and built in "bins." (R. 392)

The ocean pier is a business operation. Helicopter

rides are sold from the pier roof, teenage dances are promoted during the summer, a cable skylift is operated there, fishing space is for sale and the observation tower business operates there. (R. 399) The pier and the property on which it is located has been used continuously by McMillan and Wright for business purposes. (R. 404-405) In connection therewith, McMillan and Wright has permitted persons to use the beach area under the pier for recreational purposes. (R. 402) This use was permissive by McMillan and Wright, and has never been objected to by the company except when necessary in conjunction with maintenance of the pier or with maintenance of order. (R. 402-403) Parking regulation about the pier is not objectionable to McMillan and Wright. (R. 406)

At the time of the preliminary injunction hearing, the observation tower was constructed and substantially completed.

(R. 407) It can be entered only from the pier and is physically a part of the pier. (R. 408)

Before constructing the observation tower, McMillan and Wright made application to the duly constituted authorities of the City of Daytona Beach to erect the tower. (R. 408) After lengthy proceedings, the City of Daytona Beach issued a permit for the construction of the observation tower. (R. 409) After the permits were issued, the tower was constructed at a cost of over \$125,000.00. (R. 409)

The contract documents, and the documents evidencing the State's initiatives to tax the tower, are in the record.

(R. 411-416)

Mr. Doan testified that the tower foundation was seventeen feet in diameter (17'), and the needle was four feet in diameter (4'). (R. 439) The needle is immediately adjacent to the pier; part of the foundation is underneath the pier. (R. 439-440)

The preliminary injunction was denied because this evidence did not demonstrate a clear case of public prescriptive rights in the property of McMillan and Wright. (R. 101-104) This same evidence was presented in support of plaintiff's motion for summary judgment, together with certain affidavits described hereafter. The preliminary injunction testimony was stipulated into evidence for purposes of the summary judgment motions, but with the proviso that the parties reserved rights to rebut certain evidence and to conduct further direct and cross-examination of the witnesses for the purposes of clarifying the testimony. (R. 230)

After Judge Percy B. Revels assumed the case, the plaintiffs filed motions for summary judgment on the "prescriptive rights" theory. (R. 445) These motions were supported by affidavits. (R. 447-489) Defendants moved for summary judgment also. (R. 217) The affidavits filed in

support of the plaintiff's summary judgment motion show:

1. Affidavit of J. Donald Jarrett, majority stock-holder of plaintiff (R. 447-475):

Mr. Jarrett's affidavit stated that his company, Tona-Rama, operated an observation tower at the Daytona Beach Boardwalk area, located west of the bulkhead line; and that the McMillan and Wright observation tower was constructed east of the bulkhead line in the same vicinity. He identified what he said was a certified copy of the City of Daytona Beach charter provisions declaring that Daytona Beach from high to low water marks of the Atlantic Ocean was a public highway.

Mr. Jarrett's affidavit further stated that he had observed people using the soft sand area of Daytona Beach for recreational purposes for twenty years preceding the affidavit, including the soft sand area on which the McMillan and Wright observation tower has been constructed. Mr. Jarrett reaffirmed the activities of the City of Daytona Beach which were the subject of testimony at the preliminary injunction hearing; and he claimed to swear that the City of Daytona Beach had certain powers to establish a bulkhead line and to zone the ocean pier and lands on which it stood for Amusement-Entertainment (AE). (R. 449, 450)

2. Affidavit of Henry Autry, Chairman of Board of Adjustment (Zoning Appeals) of City of Daytona Beach, filed in support of plaintiff's summary judgment motion:

Mr. Autrey identified himself as Chairman of the Board of Adjustment (Zoning Appeals) of the City of Daytona Beach, and apparently disavowed the authority of the Deputy Building Official involved to deny Tona-Rama's appeal from the granting of permits to McMillan and Wright allowing the latter to construct the observation tower at the ocean pier. Mr. Autry stated that the officials of the Building Department and other city officials in general have always zealously restricted building on the eastern side of the bulkhead line. (R. 477)

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