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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

SUMMARY JUDGMENT ENTERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT AND AFFIRMED BY THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BY THE SUPREME COURT IN THAT NO LAWFUL AUTHORITY FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF A SKYTOWER ON THE ATLANTIC OCEAN BEACH IN DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA, EVER EMANATED FROM THE PETITIONER CITY OF DAYTONA BEACH.

It is one of the Respondents' contentions that the City of Daytona
Beach acted contrary to law in granting the Skytower to be constructed.

The Charter Laws of the City of Daytona Beach being the basic Charter Act, known as Chapter 67-1274, Laws of 1967, approved by the Governor and filed with the Secretary of State on July 12, 1967, provide, in part, as follows:

Sub-Pt. A, Sec. 19. ENACTMENT OF ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS:

- (a) In addition to other acts required by the law or by specific provision of this Charter to be done by ordinance, those acts of the City Commission shall be done by ordinance which: (Emphasis added)(R-473)
- (8) Amend or repeal any ordinance previously adopted, except as otherwise provided herein with respect to repeal of ordinances reconsidered under the referendum powers. (Emphasis added)(R-473)

It is the contention of Respondents that the City of Daytona Beach acted contrary to the City Charter in adopting Resolution 69-165 and issuing building permit 9518 without taking appropriate action to change existing

ordinances concerning the building line, bulkhead line, and ordinance regulating the height restriction of observation towers.

The Supreme Court of Florida in case of City of Coral Gables v.

City of Miami Beach, et al, 190 So. 427, upheld the principal of law
that a municipal ordinance cannot be repealed by a mere resolution, and
to accomplish such a repeal a new ordinance must be passed.

19 R.D.L. p. 901

An act that is required to be accomplished by ordinance may not be accomplished by resolution. A resolution cannot be substituted for, and have the force and effect of, an ordinance, nor can a resolution supply initial authority which is required to be vested by ordinance.

Brown v. St. Petersburg. 153 So. 141

A resolution is ordinarily of a temporary character, whereas an ordinance prescribed a permanent rule of conduct or government.

If the organic law requires an act to be done by ordinance, or if such requirement is implied by necessary inference, a resolution is not sufficient.

Certain Lots, Inc., vs. Town of Monticello, 159 Fla. 134; 31 So. 2d 905

Further Section 7 of Sub-Pt. A of the City Charter provided as follows: (R-472)

(n) BUILDINGS

- (1) Power to regulate generally: For the purpose of promoting health, safety, morals or the general welfare of the community, the city commission is hereby empowered to regulate the height, number of stories and size of buildings, signs and other structures; the kind of materials of which they may be constructed; the general appearance of such buildings or structures; the percentage of lot that may be occupied; the size of yards, courts and other open spaces; the density of population, and the location and use of buildings, structures and land for trade, industry, residence or other purposes; and to establish setback building lines. (Emphasis added).
- (4) passage, etc., of regulations; notice and hearings. The city commission of the City of Daytona Beach, Florida, shall provide for the manner in which such regulations and restrictions, kind of materials to be used, and the boundaries of such districts shall be determined, established and enforced, and from time to time amended, supplemented or changed. However, no such regulation, restriction or boundary shall become effective until after a public hearing in relation thereto, at which parties in interest and citizens shall have an opportunity to be heard. At least ten (10) days before such public hearing is held a notice of the time and place of such hearing shall be published one time in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Daytona Beach. (Emphasis added)

The City of Daytona Beach passed and adopted Resolution 69-307 on October 22, 1969, without complying with the above section of its Charter. No public notice was given in a newspaper of general circulation of at least 10 days indicating that a public hearing would be held to consider the subject matter involved.

Where city commission did not comply with notice and public hearing provisions of City Charter.... such ordinance was invalid.

Ellison v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 183 So. 2d 193

It is submitted that the City of Daytona Beach cannot do indirectly what is required to be done directly. Therefore, if the City sought to do by resolution that which should be done by ordinance, the required procedure under its Charter and general law must be followed.

It is commonly required by charter provisions that ordinances be published in some manner within the municipality. Such a requirement is mandatory, and unless an ordinance is published in accordance with the requirement, it is void.

Carlton v. Jones, 158 So. 170

There is no question that the purpose of Resolution 69-307 was to make valid Resolution 69-165 which, on its face, affirmatively shows an improper delegation of legislative authority to the legal department. Therefore, the validity of Resolution 69-165 must fall or stand on the efficacy and legality of Resolution 69-307.

The Florida Constitution, Article III, LEGISLATURE, Section 6 Laws stated then and now, states as follows:

"Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title. No law shall be revised or amended by reference to its title only. Laws to revise or amend shall set out in full the revised or amended act, section, subsection, or paragraph or a subsection.... (Emphasis added)

The title of a legislative act in not a part of the basic act, operative provisions of act being those which follow the enabling clause....

Hillsborough County v. Price 149 So. 2d 912

The enabling clause of 69-307 did no more than to strike the words delegating legislative authority:

"Subject to the matter being approved from a legal standpoint by our Legal Department".

Certainly the effect of 69-307 could not be retroactive. Resolution 69-307 failed to adopt 69-165 as amended. It appears to have been an act in futility.

Let us pursue the matter further with a question. Can the title of an original invalid resolution be referred to in considering the validity of the title of a resolution which purports to be an amendatory resolution?

This question was answered in the negative in the case of $\underline{\text{Moore}}$ v. State, 41 So. 2d 310.

If indeed Resolution 69-307 is to be considered an amendatory resolution, it is invalid because an act which amends an invalid act is void.

Williams v. Dormany, 126 So. 117

POINT II

THE DOCTRINE OF COMPARATIVE INJURY AND BALANCE OF CONVENIENCE AND OR THE DOCTRINE OF LACHES OR ESTOPPEL IS NOT JUSTIFIED AS A DEFENSE TO THE PETITIONERS.

The Petitioners in their brief under Point 2 attempt to make out a case as being entitled to consideration under the doctrine of comparative injury and balance of convenience.

Their initial position is to the effect that a small encroachment into the soft sand area of the public beach should be tolerated and excused since a much greater area of the public beach remains open and free for use by the general public. Certainly such a proposition has no real basis in fact or in law.

If this relative lesser encroachment is in fact legally founded, the Petitioners would be likewise legally entitled to encroach on the entire 102 feet of the riparian right lands extending over the soft sand area to wherever the mean high water line may be established.

Petitioners further make much mention of expending the sum of \$125,000.00 to erect the said skytower structure. It is stated in the brief that the capital investment will be recouped over a period of four

The state of the s

or five years. Petitioner Harry Doan testified on February 12, 1970, at the hearing on the question of a temporary injunction that the investment would be paid off within four years. (R-411-412). Petitioners have managed to delay and otherwise prolong the final outcome of this law suit and, consequently, Petitioner Harry Doan and his corporation are in the midst of the fourth year of operations. Therefore, their capital investment is recouped and little or no financial loss will be suffered.

The enforcement of the mandatory injunction will cause virtually no financial loss to Petitioners. These facts clearly demonstrate that the equitable doctrine of comparative injury and balance of convenience should not be applied to this case.

The stipulated statement of facts agreed to by the Petitioners conclusively establishes that the Petitioner Harry Doan and his corporation knowingly assumed the risk in proceeding with construction after litigation was commenced:

"The parties hereto, to avoid the necessity of presenting extended testimony and evidence and for the purpose of this pending action only, stipulate and agree to the following statement of facts:

1. That subsequent to the application for a sky tower use and prior to the actual construction of the sky tower facility, Harry Doan, individually, and as President of McMillan and Wright, Inc., was fully aware of certain questions and objections that were being raised as to said sky tower use by the City Attorney, Assistant City Attorney, City Planner, minority members of the

Planning Board and minority member of the City Commission of Daytona Beach, which questions included:

- a. The zoning classification of the land in question.
- b. The granting of said use East of the bulkhead sea wall and building line of the City of Daytona Beach.
- c. The prescriptive rights of the public to the area of the Atlantic Ocean Beach involved.
 - d. The ownership of the land in question.
- e. That the area in question was part of a public highway. (R-229, 230)

Petitioners knew or should have known that public rights had vested to the property in question and their rights could only be in common with the rights acquired by the general public.

Petitioners, along with the hundreds of other oceanfront property owners, have acquiesed to general public over a period in excess of twenty years to the soft sand area easterly of the established bulkhead line within the corporate limits of the Petitioner City of Daytona Beach.

The facts in this case clearly show that Petitioners are not entitled to the benefit of the doctrine of comparative injury and balance of convenience nor to the doctrine of equitable estoppel or on any other equitable grounds.

Petitioners cite and rely upon several Florida cases in support of their contention that the Court should apply the doctrine of

comparative injury and balance of convenience in the instant case. From a review of these cases, the facts present situations that are far removed from the facts and circumstances existing in the case now before the Court. The encroachments and violations of restrictive covenants in these cases eminate from an initial and basic innocense and good faith, non-existence in the instant case as established by the record and as set forth herein.

Petitioners in their brief to the District Court of Appeal cited the case of <u>Texas Co.</u> v. <u>Town of Miami Springs</u>, 44 So. 2d 808 in support of their defense of equitable estoppel. The facts and circumstances of that case and the instant case are no where similar.

In the Texas case the company was told no existing ordinance prohibited the construction of a service station. The company in good faith submitted plans and specifications to the City, and permits were issued even before the company took title to the property involved. The City later granted renewal of the permits.

Some time later the City passed an ordinance as an "emergency matter" creating a distance of 850 feet between service stations and thereby took measures to enforce said ordinance against the Texas Company.

The Texas Company went to court and obtained a temporary injunction against the City. In the course of the litigation the City was dilatory in filing its answer for fifteen months after filing of the original bill and eleven months after the injunction was entered. During this period of time the Company not only had expended \$12,500.00 to purchase the land, but had completed construction of the service station at great cost.

Notwithstanding the above facts, the lower court ruled for the City and dismissed the action of the Texas Company as being without equity.

The Supreme Court reversed the Circuit Court of Dade County and stated that the appellant's cause was pregnant with equity. The court further stated that the whole picture presents a typical case of estoppel.

Everything in the instant case presents a contrary picture; the Petitioner Harry Doan and his corporation assumed the risk involved and are not entitled to the benefit of equity. The actions on the part of the City of Daytona Beach support this conclusion.

The case of <u>Daniel</u> v. <u>Sherrill</u> 48 So. 2d 736 was relied upon by Petitioners in support of their equitable estoppel position. That case involves a title to lands situation. The Supreme Court reversed

a Circuit Judge's decision and held that Plaintiffs (State) were estopped from questioning the validity of tax deeds from the State, under which Plaintiffs claimed title to the land, and the truth of the recitals in such deeds. In no way does the Rule of Law in that case support the cause of the Petitioners.

Petitioners also cited the case of <u>Bregar</u> vs. <u>Britton</u>, 75 So. 2d 753. That involved a zoning matter where the County Commissioners of Hillsborough County changed zoning to allow a Drive-In-Theatre and several months later rescinded the zoning leaving the property in a classification not permitting a Drive-In-Theatre.

The Supreme Court affirmed the Circuit Court in holding that the placing of the property in Zone "A" (Agriculture) is unjust, arbitrary and without regard to the conditions existing and has no relation to public health, safety or welfare.

If the Petitioners rely on that case for support, their cause is not enhanced.

The case of <u>Trustees</u> v. <u>Claughton</u>, 86 So. 2d 775, was relied upon by Petitioners on the question of equitable estoppel. The case involved a quiet title action. The deed from Trustees conveyed small island and some of the submerged lands surrounding it. The issues involved equitable estoppel to some extent and the question of how far the grantee could fill submerged land under the rights vested by the original

deed. The facts in that case and the law applicable is far removed from the issues now before this court.

City of Gainesville v. Bishop, 174 So. 2d 100, was cited by Petitioners in support of their cause in their brief to the District Court of Appeal. The facts and law in that case and in the case of Sakolsky v. City of Coral Gables, 151 So. 2d 433, are distinguishable from the case at bar on at least the following points:

- a) There is no question that Petitioners were aware of the matters in dispute before and after issuance of the permit.
- b) The facts do not establish that Petitioner Harry Doan and his corporation acted in good faith in proceeding to construct the Skytower in face of a pending law suit and the immediate action taken to the Board of Adjustment challenging the property of the building permit.
- c) The zoning classification of the land in question was being challenged.
- d) The validity of Zoning Resolutions 69-165 and 69-307 was questioned.
- e) The interpretation of Zoning Ordinance 67-200 was involved.
- f) The violation of bulkhead line adopted by Ordinance 53-159 was involved.
- g) The violation of building line established by existing ordinance of the City was involved.
- h) The interpretation of City Charter provisions relevant and material to the issues was involved.

- i) The interpretation of the Acts of the Legislature establishing the Atlantic Ocean Beach as a public highway between the low and high water mark was involved.
- j) The question of whether the Atlantic Ocean Beach land East of the bulkhead line became a public highway by virtue of more than four years maintenance by the City.
- k) Whether a prescriptive right had been acquired by the public to the land in question was involved.
- 1) Whether public rights had been acquired to the soft sand area of the Atlantic Ocean Beach by common law doctrine of custom was involved.

POINT III

THE PUBLIC HAS ACQUIRED RIGHTS TO THE ATLANTIC OCEAN BEACH AREA INVOLVED IN THIS CAUSE BY VIRTUE OF PRESCRIPTION OR BY THE COMMON LAW DOCTRINE OF CUSTOM.

A. PRESCRIPTION

Florida courts have recognized that an easement for a public right may be acquired by prescription and that the elements for this acquistion are identical to those for roads or highways (1 Fla. Jur. Adv. Poss., Sec. 54; Miami Beach v. Undercliff Realty & Invest. Co., 21 So. 2d 783; Miami Beach v. Miami Beach Improv. Co., 14 So. 2d 172). Both of the above cited cases recognized the prescriptive right theory but in both cases the evidence was held insufficient to establish public prescription. It is significant that in both cases evidence was adduced showing the City of Miami Beach to have recognized the riparian owners claims.

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